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Harold Marcuse 

in: Jane Caplan and Nikolaus Wachsmann (eds.), 
Concentration Camps in Nazi Germany: The New 
Histories (New York: Routledge, 2010), 
pp.186-211. 

While the histories of most Nazi concentration camps are now well known, 
what happened with them after liberation until their reincarnation as museums 
or memorial sites is generally not. Surveying the former Nazi camps that dotted 
Europe at the end of the war, we can say there are five basic uses to which they 
have been put since 1945. Chronologically the first use was to educate the local 
populace about the conditions in the camps as they were found at liberation. 
The very first camps to be liberated had been emptied of before the 
arrival of the Allied armies, but even there sufficient evidence of horrific atrocities 
remained that the liberators were moved to force local civilians to view the 
prc:!mises and participate in clean-up work. In addition to this punitive pedagogy, 
in those camps whose inmates had not been murdered or completely evacuated 

to liberation, such forced tours overlapped with the second use: nursing the 
hundJreds, thousands, and even tens of thousands of survivors back to health. This 
use as a medical and recuperation facility usually lasted from several weeks to a 
few months) in some cases up to a year or more, until political conditions became 
suitable for the survivors to return to their home countries or emigrate to fmd new 
homes. 

The third use was most conunon in occupied Germany, where the victorious 
Allies used larger camps, especially those close to urban centres, to imprison 
large numbers of Germans who fell into the 'automatic arrest' categories, until 
their trials or denazification hearings could be held. In some cases those judicial 
proceedings were held in the former camps as well, most notably in Dachau, where 
from November 1945 until August 1947 personnel from Dachau, Mauthausen, 
Flossenburg, Buchenwald and Dora-Nordhausen were tried. I Although there were 
strong practical reasons for reusing the concentration camps as penal facilities, 
punitive education was undoubtedly a consideration, now directed at 
suspected p~rpetrators a taste of their own medicine, as opposed to enJllglltem.nlg 
the putative bystanders. 

The fourth use harks back to the education, but with two differences: 
commemoration of the heroism or of the victims became an unPOJrtaJett 
component, and this next phase of education was also what one might term 
retrospectively prospective - loolcing back to select and preserve certain aspects 
of a history for the future. Explicit measures to preserve parts of former 

The qfterlifi qf the camps 187 

camps for educational use first occurred in countries that had been conquered 
and occupied by Nazi Germany, especially in those camps that had served as 
instruments of political repression, such as Auschwitz in Poland. Even there, 
however, the preservation and conversion to memorial sites took some time to 
implement, and often did not begin until the use as an internment camp was over. 

The flfth fate tended to befall the more remote concentration camps and 
extermination centres} as well as the vast majority of the satellite camps, some 
of which were huge facilities for tens of thousands of inmates. They were simply 
abandoned and ignored for decades, often until the 19803 or 1990s, many of 
them until today.2 Natzweiler in France and Gross Rosen in Poland are examples 
of more remote large camps, Gusen in Austria and in Bavaria of 
huge satellite camps. This was also the fate of BelZec, Sobib6r and 
Treblinka, the relatively remote :Action Reinhardt' extermination centres in 
Poland that the Nazis dismantled and effaced in 1943-1944, before their retreat. 
The memorialization of those sites did not begin until the 19605, as we will see 
below. . 

Although so'me country-based illustrated overviews about memorials at sites 
of Nazi persecution were as early as the 1960s,3 the scholarly literature 
about the postwar histories of the concentration camp sites did not begin until the 
1980s, with Konnilyn Feig's Hitler's Death Camps: The Sanity qf Madness, published 
in 1981:~ Feig's book includes descriptions of and uses documents from many of 
the main camp memorial sites since she began visiting them in the early 19603. 
Works by Detlef Garbe (1983) and Bernd Eichmann (i986) offer somewhat 
more detailed and up-to~date sununaries of .the histories of the main memorial 
sites, while the sites in West Germany were comprehensively cataloged by lllrike 
Puvogel in a project sponsored by (the Federal Centre for Political Education, 
which was published in 1987 (based on much shorter preliminary versions) and 
later updated for western Germany (1996) and the new eastern German states 
(1997).5 The 1987 version contains references to the scant previously published 
literature, which was mostly in pamphlet and article form. Gisela Lehrke's 1987 
dissertation on 'historicalwpolitical education at sites of resistance' was supported 
by a grant in parallel with Puvogel's documentation, while a more 
analytical approach.6 

The 1990s saw the publication of geographically more extensive works such 
as Sybil Milton and Ira Nowinski's In Fitting Memory (1991), which includes an 
annotated bibliography;7 James Texture qf Memory (1993), which offers 
some primary research on a few selected sites;S and the more journalistic overview 
by Judith :tv1iller in One try One f?y One (1990).9 Since the mid-1990s detailed scholarly 
anthologies or monographs have appearing about the postwar histories of 
some camps,1O while the camp-based essays in the multi-volume reference work Der 
Ort tits Terrors (2005- ) include fairly detailed sections On the postwar histories of 
the main concentration camps that often draw on hitherto unpublished primary 
material. 11 
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Liberation and punitive pedagogy: the lD.ema blitz 

NIost of the concentration £:amps liberated before April 1945 had been almost 
completely evacuated prior to the arrival of Allied troopS.12 These included 
Majdanek near Lublin in eastern Poland (24 July 1944),13 Natzweiler-Struthof 
in France (November 1944),14 and Gross Rosen near Wrodaw (Breslau) in 
south-central Poland (13 February 1945).15 The largest camp that was not fully 
evacuated during this early phase was Auschwitz, where about 7,600 inmates were 
still alive in its three main camps when Soviet troops entered the complex on 27 
January 1945. 16 With an end to the war still at least months away, these liberated 
prisoners were given initial aid and then released to find their own ways home, 
often taking circuitous routes, as the odyssey recounted by Auschwitz survivor 
Primo Levi attestsP Levi also describes how, on the morning after liberation, 20 
Polish civilians summoned by the Soviets began to clear away corpses and clean 
the camp, with additional local residents arriving in the following days.18 The 
use of local labour for clean-up and burial details had already been practised 
at Majdanek, as surviving film footage attests.19 Such civilian labour details are 
documented for numerous camps liberated later as well, such as Belsen in April 
194520 and Sachsenhausen in early May.21 

The Allied response changed dramatically in early April, when Allied army units 
overran, captured or received in surrender the ftrst unevacuated camps. Ohrdruf, 
a Buchenwald satellite camp liberated on 4 April 1945, tipped the balance from 
dean-up to forced tours. US soldiers found up to 100 charred and machine-gunned 
bodies lying about, over 3,200 corpses in mass graves, and more corpses stacked in 
various sheds.22 On 11 April, US troops entered Dora-Nordhausen, ftnding 3,000 
corpses and 700 surviving inmates.23 The next day, Allied Supreme Commander 
Eisenhower, along with Generals Bradley and Patton, toured Ohrdru£ Mterward 
they ordered 2,000 townspeople to bury the dead. That same day, US forces 
liberated Buchenwald, with about 19,000 unevacuated survivors,24 and Belsen's 
cormnandant Kramer surrendered his camp to British forces, which entered it on 
15 April to find about 10,000 corpses and 55,000 survivors, who were dying at a 
rate of approximately 500 per day.25 

Also on 12 April, General after visiting Buchenwald, ordered the 
mayor of Weimar to send at least 1,000 Weimar citizens to tour the main camp 
the next day.26 On 19 after more reports of horriftc scenes from liberated 
branch camps had come Eisenhower telegraphed Washington and London, 
requesting that delegations of US congressmen, British members of parliament 
and journalists be sent to Germany to tour the camps. Thus what I call 
the 'media blitz': the blanketing in the first weeks of May 1945 of the US, British 
and German public spheres with newspaper, magazine and radio reports, posters, 
brochures and fIlms about concentration camp atrocitiesY Whereas Allied 
governments had previously refrained from corroborating reports about atrocities 
in the camps for fear of increasing anxieties among family members about the 
treatment of captured soldiers, a full-scale official public relations campaign was 
now launched.28 This media blitz peaked in lVlay 1945 and continued during 
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the summer; when it served to justify a relatively harsh occupation This 
informational campaign experienced a brief revival the main Nuremberg 
Trial beginning in November 1945 through early 1946.29 Then, as the conflict 
between the capitalist and communist blocs re-emerged in 1947, occupation 
policy softened and the camps faded from public attention, with, for example, 
decreasing media coverage of the trials of concentration camp personne1.30 

Displaced persons' CaJD.pS 

Parallel to the punitive pedagogical use of the camps at liberation was the urgent 
need to care for the survivors, who also needed to be housed until they could 
return to their home countries. When the war in Europe ended on 8 May 1945, 
on German soil there were approximately 6 million foreign slave labourers, 
2 million prisoners of war; and 750,000 concentration camp inmates, most of 
them foreigners. 3] While the vast majority of these people .were eager to return 
home as soon as their health permitted, several groups posed particular problems, 
including Jews to emigrate to Palestine, Soviets who had fought on the 
side of the Germans, and non·communist Poles wary of their new Soviet-friendly 
government. For these groups, the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation 
Administration (UNRRA) set up displaced persons (DP) camps, at fIrst in the 
prisoner compounds of some former concentration camps, but soon moving them 
to adjacent SS or German army installations that had better infrastructure and 
fewer trappings of prisons. 

The shift away from this use of the former camps accelerated when a July 
1945 report by Earl Harris~n, the US representative on the Intergovernmental 
Committee on Refugees, to US president Truman, alerted a broader public to 
the need for longer-term DP camps. The crucial passage from that report, which 
US president Truman relayed to Allied Supreme Commander Eisenhower in 
an August letter published shortly thereafter in the New fOrk Times, stated: ~we 
appear to be the Jews as the Nazis treated them except that we do not 
exterminate them' In the wake of that pronouncement most DPs were moved 
out of the former concentration camps. 

Mter liberation, Belsen and Dachau had the largest DP populations. In BeIsen 
the concentration camp barracks were burnt down in mid-May, after many 
thousands of survivors had been moved to Belsen camps II, III, IV and V.33 In May, 
liberated Soviet POWs and slave labourers were moved to the nearby Fallingbostel 
camp, and most western Europeans returned home. This left 10,000-12,000 
mostly Polish Jews, who were housed in the German army barracks of camp 

which became known as Belsen-Hohne. While the number of Jewish in 
camps throughout the British zone fell dramatically after the founding of the state 
of Israel in May 1948, the BeIsen-Hohne DP camp did not close until March 
1950. During that period, in spite of the BeIsen DPs' focus on emigration, a centre 
of Jewish culture in Germany developed there. 34 

In Dachau, by early June 1945 most of the nearly 4-0 national groups had 
returned home, about 2,000 Catholic Poles, over a thousand Hungarians 
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and Romanians and a few hundred Russians who did not want to return to therr 
communist-controlled homelands, as well as an unknown but large number of 
Jews.35 US military- rabbi Abraham Klausner was instrumental in improving the 
lives of Jewish DPs in Dachau and other camps in Bava.ria in May and early 
June 1945,' by ensuring that, all Jewish survivors were moved out of former 
concentration camps to a hospital in the St Ottilien convent about 35 miles away, 
or to predominantly Jewish DP camps such as the one set up in the former German 
army barracks at Landsberg.36 Some of the Catholic Polish survivors remaining in 
Dachau were employed by the US army as guards for German 'automatic arresf 
suspects who were being rounded up over the summer. vVe know almost nothing 
about what happened to those DPs who remained in or at the Dachau camp after 
early July 1945, when it formally became War Crimes Enclosure no. 1 of the US 
counterintelligence corps.31 

As for other former camps, Neuengamme housed DPs for about four weeks 
after the end of the war,38 and Flossenburg had 1,500-2,500 mostly Polish residents 
until the end of 1947.39 Some former Nazi camps, ¢er their use for 
interning Nazi suspects, were converted to long-term settlements for refugees 
uprooted after the end of the war. In addition to Dachau, which we will examine 
in greater detail below) Westerbork in Holland served that purpose. lVlembers of 
the National-Socialist lYfovement of the Netherlands NSB were interned there 
until 1948, after which it was used first by the Dutch military, then from 1950 to 
1971 to house refugees from Dutch colonies.40 

InterDIDent ca.m.ps 

Allied proposals for interning German suspects as the country was conquered date 
back in various forms to 1944.41 The plans were consolidated in II.A.S 
of the Potsdam Agreement of 2 August 1945.42 Well before that pronouncement, 
however, of necessity some former concentration camps were already being 
used to hold captured camp personnel. Occupation in an attempt 
to prevent sabotage or even insurgent movements, had ordered mass 
internments. For example, in 'Operation Ta11y-,Ho\ a raid be~~1lllnmcg 
in the night of 21-22 July 1945, 80,000 German suspects in the US zone were 
rounded up and interned.43 

The following list illustrates the extent to which the former main concentration 
camps were used for internment:# 

Buchenwald: NKVD (Soviet People's Commissariat for Internal Affairs) 
Special Camp No.2, 20 August 1945-February 1950; up to 1 inmates 
(usually 10,000-12,000; 28,455 total over tirne);iS 
Dachau, US Counterintelligence Corps War Crimes Enclosure no. 1, early 
July 1945-31 August 1948; capacity 30,000 mrrlate:s;"'1 
Esterwegen, British No.9 Civil Internment then from 1 July 1946 to 
July 194 7 No. 101 Prison Camp with up to 2,612 war ~rlrmn.ats, 
mainly former camp guards;41 
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Flossenbtirg, US Military Government internment camp, July 1945-April 
1946; up to 4,000 IDlllate:s;'''' 
Neuengamme, British No.6 Civil Internment Camp, June 1945-13 August 
1948; up to 8,000 IDlllate~s;"''' 
Sachsenhausen, NKVD Special Camp No.7, 7 August 1945-January 1950; 
capacity 14,000, c. 60,000 total over time. 50 

Conditions in these internment camps were harsh, especially during the 
'hunger winters' of 1945-1946 and 1946-1947 when food and heating fuel was 
scarce throughout occupied Germany. the internees of these camps did 
not suffer from mistreatment, overwork and intentional physical abuse like their 
concentration camp predecessors, but rather from inactivity and neglect. The 
conditions in camps in the US and British occupation zones were harsh, especially 
in terms of low rations, but acceptable, without unusual mortality rates. 51 However, 
in the Soviet camps the death rate due to malnu trition and disease at times rose 
to staggering proportions. Over the five years of the Sachsenhausen internment 
camp's existence, for example, approximately 12,000 of the 60,000 prisoners 
died.52 This 1:5 death rate compares to the 1 :4. 7 death rate of officially registered 
inmates in the Sachsenhausen concentration camp.53 

The use of former concentration camps as internment camps was never 
intended to be more than a temporary solution until denazification reviews and 
trials could be conducted.5f As the number of internees dwindled and conditions 
in postwar Germany stabilized, efforts to memorialize the camps and those who 
had died in the~ began to gain traction. The scope of these initiatives varied 
vv:idely, however, from ad hoc suggestions by groups of liberated to state­
sponsored projects. The fITst camps to as memorials were not the first 
camps that had been erected, but the fIrst ones to be liberated. Formerly Nazi­
occupied countries such as Poland, Czechoslovakia and soon passed laws 
stipulating that former concentration camps be nrl~<lp.·rvp'rI 

Poland: from. the martyrdom. of Poles to the 
externtination of Je'Ws 

Eight major German camps were set up on Polish soil: the four concentration 
camps Auschwitz, NIajdanek, Gross Rosen and and the four Action 
Reinhardt extermination centres Belzec, Chehnno, Sobib6r and Treblinka. By 
the 1960s, the Polish government had included three of them among the five 
state museums overseen by its Advisory Board of the Museums of Martyrology.56 
Reflecting postwar Poland's emphasis on Polish resistance and victimization, those 
official museums included Ausch'wv:itz, Majdanek and Stutthof. The extermination 
centres, which were not only much more remote but had also been dismantled 
and planted over by the Nazis in 1943-1944, were not memorialized until the 
1960s, and then only with more or less elaborate and small exhibitions. 
Since the 19908, with private and institutional help from the United States, the 
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Sobib6r and Belzec memorial sites have been expanded and now include explicit 
documentation of the extermination of Jewish Poles that was carried out there. 

On I IvIay 1945, even before Germany's surrender, Poland's provisional 
government placed 'those parts of the concentration camp in Oswi~cim that 
were connected to the immediate destruction of millions of people' under the 
administration of its Nlinistry of Culture and which was also charged with 
developing a concept for a museum.51 The Ministry approved a formal proposal 
in February 1946, and by April camp survivors were working to create a museum, 
which was officially opened on 14 June 1947, the seventh anniversary of the arrival 
of the fIrst prisoners.58 InJuly 1947 the Polish parliament passed a law stipulating 
that all remains in the camp must be preserved. Around 1950 a small gravestone­
like memorial was erected by private initiative near Birkenau crematorium II. Its 
simple inscription in Polish, Yiddish and Hebrew focused on the Jewish victims of 
Birkenau: 'In memory of the millions of Jewish martyrs and fighters, exterminated 
in the camp Auschwitz-Birkenau by the National Socialist race murderers, 1940-
1945'.59 The original exhibition in Auschwitz I was expanded fIrst in 1950, and 
again in 1955 after Stalin's death. At that time it fIlled five of the two~storey stone 
barracks of the Auschwitz main camp. 

The tenth anniversary of the liberation of Auschwitz in 1955 provided the 
impetus to replace that frrst private Jewish memorial with a more official one at 
the far end of the 'ramp' in view of the entrance gate. The new memorial was a 
3 metres high, nearly cubical 'urn' on a plinth.fio vVe know little about it, except 
that it was conceived as a temporary solution to be replaced by a memorial that 
better reflected the magnitude of the events in Birkenau. 

Guidelines for an international competition, published by the 
Auschwitz survivors' organization in 1957, underscored the legal requirement 
that the remains of the camp not be altered. The selection committee met in 
April 1958 to 426 designs submitted by artists from 31 countries. After 
two additional limited competitions, a hybrid design was chosen and finally 
completed in May 1967. From 1960 to 1968 a number of exhibitions designed 
by national organizations were opened in various barracks. A number of 
modifications to the Birkenau and Auschwitz I sites were made in 1994-1995, 
after the fall of the communist government in 1989, including new signage, 
new inscriptions on the 1967 Birkenau memorial, and the revamping of several 
~ational exhibitions.52 

The early realization of the Auschwitz memorial site and museum was 
paralleled at ~Iajdanek) the second Nazi concentration camp in Poland, 
which was located only three miles from the major city of Lublin.63 InJuly 1944, 
NIajdanek became the fIrst Nazi concentration camp to be liberated. Evacuations 
had reduced the number of inmates to about 700 before the Germans abandoned 
the camp as the Red Army approached. The Germans left behind mountains of 
evidence of the horrific crimes they had perpetrated there, for example more than 
750,000 shoes, hundreds of cubic metres of human ash, and intact gas chambers 
whose walls were still stained by prussic acid gas. Already in November 1944, the 
provisionally governing Polish Committee of National Liberation declared the 
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former camp to be a 'memorial site of the martyrdom of the peoples of Poland 
and other nations" a decision confrrmed by the Polish parliament in 1947. 

A first historical exhibition displaying the remains found in the camp opened in 
1945, and in 1949 the site was planted over with trees. In 1954 a new exhibition 
with a manifestly pro-communist orientation was opened. It lasted until 1961, 
when a major overhaul of the site was conducted. The trees from 1949 were felled, 
preservation work was carried out on all of the buildings in the prisoners' part of 
the camp (including the barracks, gas chambers, crematorium, guard towers and 
fencing), while the buildings in the SS garrison were torn down. A redesigned 
main exhibition opened in 1962; ten years later it was moved into a group of new 
buildings located closer to the road accessing the camp. A fourth, post4 communist 
exhibition replaced it in 1999. 

Gross Rosen, liberated in February 1945, remained in the possession of the 
Soviet army until its extensive intact rema.ins were turned over to Polish authorities 
in March 1947.&f That September; a competition for a m~usoleum design was 
conducted, for which a cornerstone was already laid in November, although the 
memorial itself was not dedicated until 1953. The winning design was a bronze 
statue of a powerful standing man looking upward, set on an inscribed pedestal 
in front of a squat, pyramidally-topped tower mausoleum made of granite from 
the quarry and containing the ashes of victims of the camp. During a 
1963 renovation the heroic statue was replaced by a large bowl. The former camp 
grounds were placed under the administration of the Auschwitz museum in 1950, 
and a small exhibition was opened in the left of the gatehouse building in 
1958. In 1963, when the ensemble was placed on the national registry 'of historic 
sites, extensive repairs were carried out on the camp buildings. Trees and bushes 
were removed from the camp fence and the SS casino was torn down; 
except for some offices where the site watchman lived. In 1970, responsibility for 
the site was transferred to the Historical Museum in Wrodaw, which began to 
collect documents and artefacts about the camp's history. The Wroclaw museum 
rebuilt the SS casino in 1978-1982 to house a new exhibition and f.tlm screening 
room. In 1983, at the urging of camp survivors and local authorities, the Gross 
Rosen site was given the status of a state museum, which, however, it only held 
until 1999, when responsibility returned to the provincial leveL 

StutthoI: about 30 miles east of Gdansk and two miles from the Baltic coast, 
is less remote than Gross Rosen, and it attained the status of a state museum 
earlier and permanendy; in 1961, with a fIrst exhibition opening in 1962.65 The 
museum, installed in the crematorium building by artist WIktor Tolkin, tells the 
history of the camp. Artefacts from the daily life of the camp are displayed in 
the remaining barracks. Also designed by Tolkin and dedicated in May 1968, 
the central memorial is located near the gas chamber and crematorium. It :is 
comprised of a wall 48 metres long and 3.5 metres high, bas reliefs and 
containing a reliquary with incompletely burnt human bones. It culminates in 
an 11 metre sculpted block with figures symbolizing resistance. In 1967 
the Nlinistry of Culture and Art took responsibility for the site, and opened an 
archive and research library. In the first dozen years of the museum's existence, 
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the-number of visitors, including many Polish school classes, increased more than 
tenfold) from 62,000 in 1962 to 257,000 in 1968, to 650,000 in 1974. 

Austria: from. eradication to reluctant preservation 

The early memorialization of Mauthausen in Austria followed a similar but 
in revealing ways slightly different path from Auschwitz. Austrian support for 
Nazi Germany's annexation of their country in 1938 had been enthusiastic and 
widespread, and after 1945 a substantial proportion of the populace still identified 
with the perpetrators. Thus many Austrians preferred to eradicate, not preserve 
reminders of the system of repression and murder.66 

When US tanks rolled up to Mauthausen and its nearby branch camps on 
5 May 1945, they found approximately 20,000 survivors, many of whom were 
so sick that thousands died in the followings days.67 Hundreds of local residents 
were brought in to bury the dead in mass graves. No detailed history of the 
camp over the next months has been written, but we do know that on 
16 :Nlay 1945 a ceremony was held to honour 2,500 Soviet survivors who were 
returning home. According to a 9 July agreement about the borders of zones of 
occupation, on 24July US troops began to -withdraw from the area, and the Soviet 
troops who replaced them used the barracks of the presumably empty camp as 
housing from autumn 1945 until :May 1946. At a ceremony commemorating the 
first anniversary of liberation, which was held outside the Soviet-occupied camp, 
ground was broken for a planned memorial. However, that external location 
soon became obsolete, since the Soviets approved a :March 1947 request from the 
Austrian national government to return the camp in order to erect a memorial site 
'for the wantonly murdered fighters for the freedom of nations'. An April 1947 
inspection tour of the site, which had been abandoned for almost a year, revealed 
that it had been used for grazing cows, growing potatoes and dumping rubbish, 
and that many of the buildings had been scavenged by the local populace. At that 
time there was extensive debate about whether the camp should be restored or 
'beautified'; ultimately; economic considerations were paramount in the decision 
that the camp would be cleaned up and preserved, but neither restored nor 
prettified with planting. 

When the camp was transferred to Austrian control on 20 June 1947, a first 
memorial plaque was mounted on one of the entrance towers. 68 In February 1948 
the Soviets erected a slender stele monument between the headquarters building 
and the camp gate for Soviet General Karbyschew, who had been executed in 
the camp in February 1945. In lVlay 1949 a central memorial was dedicated 
on the former roll-call square in the camp itself: a plain stone sar'coph:agl1s 
with the Latin 'From the fate of the dead the living shall learn'. 
The founding in 1953 of the International :Nlauthausen Committee created an 
organization that could press for expanding the memorial site. One of its first 
proposals, initiated in 1951 before the official creation of the organization 
never realized), was the construction of a huge 34 by 38 metre ossuary bUllldlng, 
whose 8 metre square and 18 metre high tower would contain the bones of all 
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of the camp victims buried in cemeteries and mass graves in the area. For the 
tenth of liberation in 1955 a large monument was completed for 
the 'Russian , and trilingual German, French and Russian was 
installed. with France in 1949 and Poland in and with 
West in 1983, about a dozen countries usually of 
camp survivors took responsibility - erected memorials on the terrain where 
the barracks of the SS camp had stood, between the camp wall and the granite 
quarry where had been worked to death.69 In 1970 the fITst for 
a non-national group, namely for the female victims of the camp, was mounted, 
followed by a memorial for the camp's murdered Jews in 1975, a piaque-for 
homosexuals in 1984, and one for Sinti and Roma in 1998.10 

Since the 1980s, increasing numbers of secondary-school students visit the 
memorial site as part of a recommended curriculum, their numbers climbing 
from some 6,000 in 1970 to 16,000 in 1975 and 65,000 in 1985, which is roughly 
equivalent to the number of pupils visiting other Austrian national museums each 
year. 71 From the 19705 the museum was increasingly visited by Austrian army 
officers as part of their education. The suggestion of the survivors' organization 
that new recruits be sworn in at the memorial site was approved by the defence 
minister in 1983, and since then the induction of soldiers into the Austrian army 
takes place in the Mauthausen memorial site. After a number of high-publicity 
events, such as a visit by the Pope in 1988 and a concert in the quarry by the 
Vienna Philharmonic in 2000, a reform study was initiated by the government. 
It resulted in the construction of a large new visitors' centre, completed in 2003, 
innovations such as but less intrusive signage throughout the and a 
project to interview the remaining 800 Mauthausen survivors. 

West Germ.any: survivor m.obilization against state hindrance 

The development of memorial sites at the four main concentration camps on the 
territory that later became West Germany followed a haphazard with 
some similarities to that of lVlauthausen. However, since cultural matters in the 
\Vest German federal system are administered at the state level, each of the states 
of Lower Saxony, Bavaria and Hamburg left its own stamp on its memorial sites. 
Not until 1995, when a national foundation for concentration camp memorial sites 
was created to deal with .the funding of the formerly national-level East German 
concentration camp memorial sites after unification, was there institutionalized 
support at the national leveL As in Austria, lobbying efforts by camp survivors 
were crucial at every stage of the creation and expansion of the educational 
memorial sites. 

In the camp barracks had been burnt down after 
liberation in an attempt to curb rampant epidemics. Although little was left of 
the camp buildings, the British army quickly decided to preserve some remains of 
the camp, as demonstrated by contemporary signs in English and German that 
indicated the punitive pedagogical impulse behind the measure: 
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This is the site of the infamous Belsen concentration camp, liberated by the 
British on 15th April 1945.10,000 unburied dead were found here, another 
13,000 have since died. All of them vict:ims of the German New Order in 
Europe and an example of Nazi Kultur.12 

In April 1946, the Central Jewish Committee British Zone (i.e.Jewish survivors 
still living in the adjacent former army barracks) dedicated a traditional memorial, 
a square column crowned by a small stone sphere, in the field between the mass 
graves. Later that year or in 1947, the British occupiers had German POWs 
erect a larger memorial, an obelisk with a long wall, which was completed by the 
Lower Saxony government in the following years. That memorial was dedicated 
by West German president Hems in April 1952.73 The 25 metre high obelisk 
was accompanied by a 50 metre long stone wall bearing inscriptions from 14 
of the 40 countries whose citizens had died in the Belsen camp.74 In the second 
half of the 1950s, when Anne Frank's diary was meeting with great acclaim as a 
book and on stage and screen, many thousands of German and foreign young 
people made 'pil~ages' to the site of her death. 75 In the wake of this attention, 
the Lower Saxony state government commissioned a history of the camp and a 
modest 'document house', which opened in 1966.16 It was replaced by a larger 
new exhibition building including pedagogical facilities in 1990, and expanded 
once again in 2007. n 

In Dachau, as in Belsen, the occupying military authorities ordered the local 
government to erect a memorial, which also experienced a number of protracted 
delays. In June 1945 the Associated Press reported that German civilians would 
erect two 15 metre high columns topped by a cross and a star of David at a mass 
grave near the camp, where thousands of victims of the camp were buried.78 The 
columns were to be made of stone from the Nazi party rally grounds in Nuremberg. 
This plan was abandoned shortly thereafter, when the German designer's affiliation 
'with the Nazi party became known. Shortly before the inception of the first trial 
of concentration camp personnel in Dachau in November 1945, survivors set 
up a small exhibition in some of the rooms of the crematorium/gas chamber 
building, and another proposal for a memorial was presented to the pUblic: a 
model of a gigantic 35 metres wide and 26 metres high 'monument of liberation' 
was displayed in Dachau Town Hall during a 9 November 1945 commemorative 
ceremony. That proposal was subsequently criticized on symbolic, aesthetic and 
practical grounds, and was soon scrapped as well. After a memorial competition 
conducted in 1946 yielded no satisfactory results, the project was quietly forgotten. 

At the same time the drive behind rigorous denazification was waning, and in 
a series of amnesties the Dachau internment camp gradually emptied. Echoing 
the Nazi propaganda image of the concentration camps, in January 1948 the 
.Bavarian parliament unanimously passed a resolution petitioning the US lvIilitary 
government to transfer the camp to Bavaria to use as a 'work camp ... for the 
re-education of work-shy elements to productive citizens'.79 By the time that the 
transfer took place that summer, the Cold War was heating up and the flow of 
ethnic German refugees crossing the border from Czechoslovakia into Bavaria 
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increased to a flood. The Bavarian goverrtment decided instead to convert most 
of the partially modified concentration camp barracks into apartments for refugee 
families, vvith some serving as stores, health and dental clinics, workshops, ~ school) 
offices, a communal bathing facility, and a cinema. Before winter set :in, about 600 
families moved into the newly renovated former concentration camp barracks, 
where most of them would remain for the next 15 years, until camp survivors 
succeeded in pressuring the Bavarian government to relocate them and convert 
the entire site into a memorial. 

In the meantime, the memorial mandated by the US army had been forgotten' 
until September 1949, when a mining operation uncovered several human 
skeletons not far from a mass grave of Dachau inmates.80 To quell the ensuing 
scandal, in 1950 the small exhibition in the crematorium was revamped, and a 
bronze statue of an 'unknown concentration camp inmate' was placed near the 
entrance. Mter another competition a more modestmemorial at the mass grave was 
erected between 1950 and 1952: a 10.5 metre high octagonal stone hall. However, 
by the time of its completion international attention had ~aned. The Bavar.ian 
Ministry of Finance, in response to petitions from city and county officials, had 
the crematorium exhibition removed in 1953, and in 1955 the Dachau county 
governor introduced a bill into parliament to have the crematorium itself torn 
down. These initiatives prompted the camp survivors to form an international 
organization in 1955 to push for the preservation of the camp as a memorial site. 
Their tenacity gradually met with success, vvith a temporary exhibition reinstalled 
in the crematorium in 1960 and the relocation of the ethnic German refugee 
families to nearby housing projects after 1963. Although the survivors' desire to 
preserve some of the extensively modified barracks was not fulfilled~ and the US 
army did not relinquish its control of the former camp prison, the west wing of the 
camp administration building and the entry gatehouse (which were all part of the 
US Eastman Barracks sited in the former SS camp), in 1965 the memorial site was 
opened. It had a museum in the central wing of the large administration building 
near the camp entrance, and two barracks were reconstructed for demonstration 
purposes, one with interior furnishings representing three phases of the camp's 
history. In 1968 a large, central international memorial was dedicated on the roll­
call square, based on a design selected during an international competition in 
1958-1959. 

As in Nlauthausen, throughout the 19705 and 1980s the number of visitors 
to the Dachau museum, especially school classes, increased sharply, in Dachau 
from about 350,000 visitors per year in the early 1970s to 900,000 in the late 
19805.81 The opposition of Dachau city officials to expanding the camp's 
pedagogical infrastructure was more tenacious than that of the state of Bavaria. 
The city managed to delay the creation of a youth hostel from its first proposal 
in 1970 for almost three decades until 1998. By that time the 1965 exhibition 
was somewhat out-of-date, and the Bavarian state police, which had taken over 
the former SS camp from the US army in 1971, had relinquished the gatehouse 
and the west wing of the museum building to the memorial site. This prompted a 
complete redesign of the museum, which reopened in 2003. The relocation of the 



198 Harold i.VJarcuse 

memorial site entrance to the original camp gatehouse, planned by the survivors 
since 1959, was completed in 2005, and a new visitors' centre outside the former 
camp opened in 2008. 

As in Dachau, when the internment camp in Neuengamme emptied in 1947, 
the military government prepared to transfer it back to local authorities, who were 
eager to use it as a prison.82 Unlike Dachau, their plan was not overtaken by a 
massive influx of and a prison was opened in the brick buildings on the 
site in 1948. By 1950 the concentration camp barracks had been torn down to 
enable construction of the new prison, while concentration camp workshops were 
reused as work sites for prison inmates, and· SS residences as housing for prison 
personneL A massive youth penal complex on the site of the brick factory 
was completed in 1970. Mter years of protest by camp survivors and local support 
groups, in 1989 the Hamburg Senate decreed that both prisons would be closed 
and relocated.!!3 The 1950 prison was ultimately closed inJune 2003, and the 1970 
facility in 2006. 

In the decades, all memorial had to take place outside 
the former Schutzhqftlager. In 1953 pressure from French survivors 
supported by British occupation officials led the of Hamburg to dedicate a 
first a 7 metre high tapered cylinder the simple inscription 'To 
the Victims 1938-1945" on the site of the former camp garden.84 The survivors 
formed an mternational association in 1958, and, when they learnt in 1960 of plans 
to the prison even further, proposed a much more elaborate memorial with 
national inscriptions. In 1965 local officials pre-empted the survivors' plan 
'with a much simpler alternative, a 27 metre rectangular stele 'With a stone 
inscription wall near the access road. The engravers chiselling the inscription 
made a mistake that reveals the level of misconception in the 19608 about how 
bad conditions in the Nazi camps had been: they dropped a zero from the number 
of victims, so that 55,000 became 5j 500.85 The survivors, who were disappointed 
by this simple design, were allowed to add an abstract bronze sculpture of a fallen) 
emaciated 'deportee'. Mter much more lobbying and unfavourable publicityi the 
Hamburg government added a small 'document house' nearby in 1981.96 In 1995, 
when a new exhibition was opened in the former camp workshops, the document 
house was turned into a 'house of commemoration', hung with banners the 
names of N euengamme's victims.87 

After the liberation of Flossenbiirg on 23 April 1945 medical facilities were set 
up for the 1,500-1,600 inmates who had been left behind from the 16,000 inmates 
left in the camp on 20 April.H8 While some of the corpses that had accumulated in 
the [mal days of the camp were being burnt in the crematorium, the local populace 
was put to work burying inmates who had lived until liberation, but who were still 
dying at a rate of 30 per day thefrrst week thereafter. Contemporaneous 
with the use of parts of the camp for interning Nazi suspects from July 1945 
to April 1946, other parts served until 1948 as a United Nations Relief and 
Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA) displaced persons camp, primarily for 
Catholic Poles who did not want to return to Soviet-dominated Poland. This 
group of camp survivors initiated the flrst memorials in the Flossenburg camp. 
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InJune 1946 a Committee for the Monument and Chappel (this was 
the spelling in the group's printed letterhead) in Concentration Camp 
was constituted. It included of the refugees in the UNRRA camp, 
local mayors and town administrators, and businessmen. Although the committee 
was never able to attain official recognition by the military government or the 
United Nations (it unsuccessfully tried to place the site under UN protection) 
it did succeed in creating a number of memorials. Several watchtowers were 
dismantled and their bricks used to build a chapel to jesus in Prison' attached to 
a remaining watchtower. In the 'valley of death l leading away from the chapel, 
human ash from the camp was piled into a large pyramid and covered with turf. 
An adjacent 'square of nations' was marked by stone plaques bearing the insignia 
of the nations whose citizens had died in F10ssenbiirg.89 On the rectangular brick 
chimney of the crematorium, an inscription in Polish and English '1938-1945 
were buried in the concentration camp Flossenburg' - headed a list of 18 nations 
(including Je"vish'), followed by the number of deaths as determined by the 
memorial committee. Listed in decreasing order from 26,430 Russians to two 
Americans (soldiers who died during liberation), they totalled 73,296 (the correct 
total is now estimated to be 30,0009°). This sign did not last long, however, and 
later incarnations of the camp as a memDrial site never again this level 
of detail about the death toll or horrific conditions that had prevailed in the Nazi 
camp. 

The state of Bavaria took over the UNRRA camp in and used it to 
house refugee families from former Silesia, East Prussia and the Sudetenland.91 In 
1958 the village of took over ownership of some parts of the former 
camp and began to sell off the barracks. In 1963 the town council decided to 
tear down most of the camp prison building, while other stone buildings were 
rented to local businesses. The former SS mess hall was turned into a restaurant, 
the camp laundry into offices, and both the massive camp Kommandantur and 
the administration building of the DESt (German Earth and Stone Works), an 
SS company that had run the camp quarry, were converted into apartments for 
low-income residents. In 1979 a shabby exhibition was installed in the unheated 
remaining cells of the former camp prison; it was improved in 1984, when a local 
school teacher was commissioned to offer tours upon request. An initiative by 
foreign and German youth groups, begun in 1995) frnally prompted the Bavarian 
government to purchase more of the remaining camp buildings, remove some of 
the postwar construction from the site, and install a much expanded exhibition 
in the former kitchen and laundry buildings. That work was completed in July 
2007.92 

East GerIl'1any: state heroization vs. survivor 
preservation 

In contrast to West Germany, where the development of educational memorial 
sites was characterized by survivors' grass-roots lobbying efforts gradually 
overcoming resistance in the local populace and bureaucracy, in East Germany 
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the construction of memorial sites in former concentration camps was clirected 
centrally by the national government. 'Anti-fascist resistance', embodied by 
communists who had suffered and died in the camps, was a cornerstone of the 
new socialist state's legitimacy.93 Buchenwald, where some of the most prominent 
communist prisoners, including party leader and former presidential candidate 
Ernst Thalmann, had been imprisoned and murdered, played a leading role. 

InJuly 1949, before the closure of the Soviet internment camp in February 1950, 
and even before the establishment of the state of East Germany in October 1949} 
Soviet military government told the German association of former persecutees 
VVN (Vereinigung der VeIfolgten des Naziregimes) 'to install a national museum 
in Buchenwald" modelled after those in Auschwitz and Theresienstadt.94 Efforts 
thereafter concentrated on two areas: a large site encompassing several mass 
graves overlooking Weimar on the opposite side of the hill, and the former camp 
itself After a national competition in 1952, top-level SED (Socialist Unity Party) 
politicians increasingly took the initiative away from the VVN.95 State officials 
worked with various artists and architects to design and build a 55 metre high bell 
tower with a paved trapezoidal procession route connecting three funnel-shaped 
mass graves, ending at a larger-than-life sized group of eleven bronze figures at the 
base of the tower. This monumental memorial was dedicated in September 1958. 
During that period the barracks of the former camp were torn down, a network 
of interpretative signs erected, and a large museum of 'anti-fascist resistance' 
installed in the t:"I.vo-storey former camp laundry. As an official National Site of 
Commemoration and Warning (Nation ale NIahn- und Gedenkstatte), mandatory 
visits by school classes and swearing-in ceremonies for army conscripts were held 
there. In contrast to the rising numbers of visitors during the 1970s and 1980s in 
Dachau and Nlauthausen, the Buchenwald figures remained relatively constant at 
around 400,000 per year from 1960 until the unification of Germany in 1989-
1990.96 Mter East Germany became part of the Federal Republic of Germany 
in 1990 the museum and memorial site were reoriented away from a focus on 
resistance to a more victim-centred paradigm. In of strong opposition 
from communist camp survivors, in 1995 a redesigned exhibition about the 
concentration camp was opened, again in the former camp laundry, as was a 
newly constructed museum about the history of the postwar Soviet internment 
camp, located outside the camp perimeter near previously unmarked internment 
GUUp graves.97 

Soon after the Buchenwald memorial site was completed, the national memorial 
sites in Ravensbrtick and Sachsenhausen followed suit. As in Buchenwald, various 
memorialization attempts in those two former camps in the late 1940s and early 
1950s led only to provisional solutions. Not until 1955, when the East German 
national government decided that there were to be three national memorial sites 
and created a central committee to oversee nationwide fund-raising efforts, did 
concerted efforts to create permanent memorial sites begin. 

The next memorial site to be completed, in September 1959, was at the 
Ravensbruck concentration camp for women inmates about 35 miles northwest 
of Berlin, with a first exhibition in the former camp prison ('bunker') opening the 
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following year.98 The main artistic memorial, 'Carrier', ~ 4 metre bronze 
sculpture of a female prisoner holding the drooping body of a dead comrade, is 
set atop a 7 metre tall pylon on a stone platform extending into an adjacent lake, 
above the spot where ashes from the crematorium had been dumped. In 1984 
the museum in the 'bunker' was replaced by the Antifascist Resistance Fighters' 
NIuseum in the former SS administration building, which had been used by the 
Soviet army until 1977. From 1982 to 1984 the former camp prison was converted 
to house 17 'exhibitions of the nations' designed by countries whose c:itizens 
had been imprisoned in Ravensbruck. Mter German unification :in 1990, three 
additional non-national rooms were added: for the participants of the 20 July 
1944 assassination attempt on Hitler who had been imprisoned in Ravensbruck 
(1991), for Jews (1992) and for Sinti and Rama (1994). 

Sachsenhausen, on the eastern outskirts of Berlin, which was much larger and 
more central both as a camp and as a memorial site, was not opened as a memorial 
site until 1961. After the Soviets turned their internment camp on the site over 
to the East German authorities in 1950, East German army units were stationed 
in the SS section of the camp, while the unused prisoners' compound fell into 
disrepair.99 In 1953 the crematorium was blown up, and prior to a commemorative 
ceremony in the camp in NIay 1954 most of the former prisoners barracks were 
demolished. At that time, while survivqrs were planning to create a memorial site, 
police trainees used bricks from the former camp prison to construct a provisional 
memorial on the roll-call square. 100 

Since most of the barracks had been razed without their knowledge or 
approval, the Sachsenhausen survivors were forced to revise their memorial plan 
for the entire site. IOI As in Buchenwald, their wish to preserve and rebuild parts 
of the site so as to represent the daily life of the inmates came into conflict with 
the vision of state planners who wanted a more heroic memorialization. I02 A 
collective of East German architects who had submitted designs for Buchenwald 
recommended that 'In the camps on German soil it will be good to express the 
victory (UbenJJindung) over SS rule by dismantling and demolishing the remains 
and replacing them with a planned design.' 

Thus the architects legitimized the continued demolition of structures on the 
site, much to the chagrin of the survivors.103 The final result, dedicated in April 
1961, turned the entire triangular prisoners' compound into an aesthetic ensemble. 
A wide opening in the central axis of the main camp street allows entering visitors 
to see the 40 metre tall reinforced concrete tower near the apex of the triangle 
at the opposite side of the camp. At its base is a 4-5 metre high heroic sculpture 
'Liberation') depicting a Soviet soldier with his arms around the shoulders of two 
strong inmates standing slightly in front of him. A second memorial sculpture in 
bronze is set among the ruins of the Sachsenhausen crematorium and execution 
site nearby, outside the triangle'S perimeter. Only moderately than life size, 
it depicts a standing and a bent-over inmate holding a cloth supporting the corpse 
of a comrade. 

Three museums were opened in Sachsenhausen in 1961. The first, devoted to 
everyday life in the camp, resistance, and liberation, was installed in the former 
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nrl<;:{,H,pr,,- kitchen, while a Museum of the European Peoples' Antifascist Struggle 
for with 19 individual exhibitions, each devoted to a different country, 
was installed in a new building outside the camp gate. Finally, after protests from 
Jewish survivors in Israel since the late 1950s, a 1vIuseum of Resistance Fighters 
and the Suffering of Jewish Citizens was installed in two barracks reconstructed 
from parts near the front edge of the camp.I04 The Jewish museum was 
dalnaJ2;ed in an arson attack in 1992, after which a charred portion of the barrack 
was put behind glass and left in damaged condition, so that when the museum 
reopened in 1997 it also documented the continued virulence of antisemitism 
in Otherwise, post-1990 changes to this East German memorial site 
have been gradual. A part of the camp used by Soviet troops until 1990 was 
made publicly accessible, and the national exhibits in the international museum 
outside the gate were removed, with the building now being used for temporary 
exhibitions. 105 A number of smaller documentary exhibitions have been installed 
around the site, and in 2004 a new visitors' centre was opened in a building outside 
the compound that had once been the camp armoury. 

Conclusion 

What can we learn from this overview of the histories of the physical sites of 
former concentration camps? The first postwar uses as hospitals, showcases 
of Nazi and internment camps were dictated by pragmatic concerns 
that were uppermost during the exceptional situation at the end of the war. 

hereLLtte:r, h,ow,eve:r, the former camps followed very different A few 
were nW'"p>'nTPr! as museums almost immediately, while others were converted to 
prisons or housing. In the latter cases the impulse to create an educational 
memorial site only gradually, and in some cases not at all. What 
determined that tr<llP>r·tt" ..... n .. 

that the situation at and shortly after liberation played an important 
role in the early uses of a camp, but also its medium-term 
rate. The camps that had been evacuated or destroyed before the arrival of the 
Allies did not become part of the 'media blitz' at the end of the war, and usually 
waited many years, often until the 1960s, until they became well enough known 
that a constituency for their memorialization. This was the case with the 
effaced Action Reinhardt camps in Poland, as well as at camps like Flossenbfug, 
Gross Rosen) Natzweiler, Ncuengamrne and Stutthof. In some of those cases 
geographical remoteness also played a role. 

. Second, we note that the size of a camp) whether measured by number of 
inmates, number of victims or territorial extent, did not determine the timing 
or magnitude of later memorialization. Camps that had had roughly equivalent 
numbers of inmates and victims often had very different postwar trajectories that 
resulted in widely varying memorial sites. This effect is most noticeable in the 
often large camps not discussed here that never became popular memorial sites, 
such as Ptaszow in Poland and Natzweiler in France, or large satellite camps such 
as Allach and Kaufering (attached to Dachau), Ebensee (NIauthausen), Bremen-
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Farge (Neuengamme) or Amersfoort in Holland, some of which had tens of 
thousands of inmates. 

Rather, third, the timing and extent of memorialization depended' on the 
human agency primarily of the survivors (to a small extent also of the victorious 
occupying powers), and their relationship with the postwar state authorities 
controlling the sites. In general) evacuated camps such as Neuengamme were 
not memorialized until the survivors returned to lobby for their preservation. If 
the survivors were uninterested in as at Belsen, where legions 
of Jewish victims had arrived from elsewhere at the end of the war and only 
wanted to emigrate, the site inched toward oblivion once the survivors left, until 
a younger generation of Germans took note and directed international attention 
back to it. In cases where the commemorative interests of the survivors overlapped 
with those of the state, as in East elaborate aesthetic and educational 
memorials were constructed in short albeit not necessarily according to the 
wishes of the survivors. When survivor and state interests were directly at odds, as 
in Dachau or Neuengamme, the survivors' for educati~nal memorialization 
took longer and was more as the anti-commemorative impulses 
of the cohorts of the perpetrators and bystanders were overcome by the more 
open or curious attitudes of later commemorative, educational and 
preservation efforts resulted in elaborate memorial sites. 106 

In recent decades, as marginalized groups of victims such as Sinti (gypsies) 
or homosexuals have gained public several concentration camp 
memorial sites have added memorials and exhibitions about their histories as 
well. The fIrst memorial to recognize a group was the addition 
of an inscription for the Sinti to the memorial wall at Bergen-Belsen in 1982;107 
Ravensbriick followed suit 'with an exhibit in 1994, Buchenwald with a memorial 
in one of the outlined barracks in 1995, and Mauthauseri with a plaque in 1998. 
The fIrst memorial for homosexuals in a former camp was the 1984 plaque in 
lVIauthausen mentioned above; similar plaques were unveiled in Neuengamme 
in 1985 and in Sachsenhausen in 1991, while one in Dachau was first displayed 
in a private space (the Lutheran chapel) in 1985 and fmally brought to the main 
museum for public display in 1995. 109 Jehovah's Witnesses were fIrst memorialized 
in N euengamme in 2006. 

As the above overview shows) detailed, source-based studies of the postwar 
history have been written for only a handful of major camps, and studies of even the 
largest satellite camps are rare. The most reliable information on the development 
of the major camp memorial sites is to be found in reference works such as the 
Benz and Distel collection Dcr Ort des Terrors (8 vols., 2005- ).109 Especially for 
camps in eastern Europe, where linguistic barriers and until recently government 
taboos have hindered historical research, very little is known about their postwar 
uses. Jasenovac camp south of Zagreb in Croatia, for was memorialized 
in 1963, but was again in use for internment in the 1990s.1 10 Similarly, to date 
there are no works that look specifically at uses such as displaced person and 
internment camps, although a few books and articles based on primary SOurces 
examine internment camps in individual allied zones of occupation. III 
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Scholarly work on the human and material - as opposed to the physical -
legacies of the Nazi camps is also still in an early phase, 'with only a few pockets 
of in~depth research based on primary sources. An overview of the trials of 
the perpetrators, a number of which were conducted in the former camps, has -
recently been attempted in anthology form by P. Heberer and J. Matthaus in 
their Atrocities on Trial: Historical Perspectives on the Politics if Prosecuting l#tr Crimes 
(2008).112 The trials held in Germany are by far the best documented, with (up to 
2008) a 3B-volume primary source collection of the judgments and summaries of· 
the existing literature. \l3 The financial aftermath of the National Socialist camp 
systems can be subsumed under the German term Wudergutmachung, literally 
'making good again'. H. G. Hockerts has written a historical overview with a 
conceptual clarification of the differences between restitution (of assets stolen 
or expropriated from individuals, Riickerstattung in German) and compensation 
(for injury or loss or unpaid labour, or Entschiidigung), as well as references to 
the specialized literature, while M. Henry offers a comprehensive discussion of 
specifically Jewish claims. [H 

Future research would not only need to create monographic, primary 
source-based portrayals of the postwar histories of other major camps similar 
to those we now have for Buchenwald, Dachau, Mauthausen, Ravensbruck and 
Sachsenhausen) but would need to investigate the legions of lesser-known 
camps and branch camps. The histories of the camp survivor organizations that 
were to a great extent responsible for the preservation of remains and the creation 
of educational memorial sites have yet to be written. for East and West 
Germany and Austria, we know almost nothing about the often intense wrangling 
first between survivors and governmental authorities, then among and between 
successor generations and reluctant bureaucrats, out of which specific memorial 
conceptions emerged in other countries. Finally, the srudy of memorial site 
didactics and the effects of those memorial conceptions on the millions of visitors 
to former concentration camps each year is still in its infancy. I IS 
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